# In the Supreme Court of Florida

CASE NO.: SC10-116

\_\_\_\_\_\_

# STATE FARM MUTUAL AUTOMOBILE INSURANCE COMPANY,

Petitioner,

v.

# GILDA MENENDEZ, FABIOLA G. LLANES, FABIOLA P. LLANES and ROGER LLANES,

Respondents.

\_\_\_\_\_

ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE THIRD DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

PETITIONER'S BRIEF ON JURISDICTION

\_\_\_\_\_

Respectfully submitted,

BERNSTEIN, CHACKMAN, LISS & ROSE 1909 Tyler Street, Seventh Floor P.O. Box 223340 Hollywood, Florida 33022-3340 Telephone: (954) 986-9600 -and-

RUSSO APPELLATE FIRM, P.A. 6101 Southwest 76th Street Miami, Florida 33143 Telephone (305) 666-4660 Facsimile (305) 666-4470

**Counsel for Petitioner** 

# **

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

These discretionary review proceedings arise from a decision issued by the Third District Court of Appeal in an insurance coverage dispute. (A 1-6). The question presented was whether a family-household exclusion in an automobile insurance policy issued by Defendant/Petitioner State Farm Mutual Automobile Insurance Company ("State Farm") excluded coverage for the claims of certain same-household family members against each other arising out of a motor vehicle accident. (R Vol 1, pp 5-38).

The named insured on the State Farm automobile policy at issue was Gilda Menendez. (A 2). On the day of the accident, Mrs. Menendez' car was being operated by her granddaughter, Fabiola G. Llanes, as a permissive user. (A 2). The passengers in the car were grandmother Menendez herself, and her daughter and son-in-law Fabiola P. and Roger Llanes, who were also Fabiola G. Llanes' parents. (A 2). There were two vehicles involved in the accident. (A 2). The claims involved in this declaratory judgment suit, however, were all by the family members against each other. (A 2,5).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The Third District's decision has been attached as an Appendix hereto, and is referenced herein by Appendix page number: (A \_\_\_ ). The decision was also published in Westlaw where it may be found at *State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co. v. Menendez*, 2010 WL 21070 (Fla. 3d DCA 2010). Unless otherwise indicated, all emphasis in this brief has been supplied by undersigned counsel.

When the accident occurred, Fabiola G. was living with her parents, Fabiola P. and Roger Llanes. (A 2). Grandmother Menendez, the named insured, was living at a separate address. (A 2). The parents sued their daughter as the permissive driver, and the grandmother as the owner. (A 23). The grandmother sought coverage under her State Farm auto policy. (A 2). State Farm denied coverage because the policy has a family/household exclusion, which states:

# When Coverage A [Liability Coverage] Does Not Apply

There is no coverage: \*\*\*

- 2. for any **bodily injury** to: \*\*\*
  - c. any *insured* or any member of an *insured's* family residing in the *insured's* household.

(A 2-3). As a permissive user, Fabiola G. was an insured, and her parents were members of her household. (A 3). State Farm contended that, under the terms of the exclusion, the parents' claims against their daughter, with whom they undisputedly resided, were excluded. (A 3).

The family members, however, all argued that the household exclusion should be deemed ambiguous, and that accordingly coverage should be afforded. (A 4). The ambiguity asserted by the family members was in the use of the words "the insured" in the exclusion where it states: "There is no coverage \*\*\* for any bodily injury to \*\*\* any insured or any member of an insured's family residing in

the insured's household." (A 4). The family members argued that "the insured" means "the named insured." (A 4).

The policy has a Definitions section, however, which states the following:

"You or your" is defined as the named insured or named insureds shown on the declaration page.

"Insured" means "the person, persons or organization defined as insureds in the specific coverage.

(A 4-5). In the Liability Coverage where the household exclusion appears, "insured" is defined, in pertinent portion, as follows:

When we refer to *your* car, \*\*\* *insured* means:

- 1. *you*; \*\*\*
- 4. any other person while using such a car if its use is within the scope of consent of *you* or *your* spouse[.] (A 5).

Both the grandmother and granddaughter were "insureds" under this definition, and thus had no coverage for any of their own bodily injury claims. (A 5). Based on the family members' arguments, however, the Third District ruled that there was an ambiguity in the household exclusion as to the *parents*' bodily injury claims, stating as follows:

However, as to the bodily injury claims of the parents, the household exclusion is susceptible to more than one reasonable interpretation. State Farm suggests that the phrase "the insured" does not mean the named insured because the term "you or your" has been defined to mean the "named insured." Thus, State Farm argues that if it intended for the

phrase "the insured" to mean the "named insured," the policy would have read as follows: "Any insured or any member of an insured's family residing in your household."

The parents however suggest that the use of the word "the" before "insured" refers to the insured named in the declaration, Gilda Menendez. Thus, for the exclusion to apply, the family member of "an insured" would have to reside in the same household as the named insured.

(A 5-6). The Third District opined that the family members' alternative interpretation was reasonable, and that accordingly the exclusion was ambiguous such that the policy should be deemed to have coverage for the parents' claims even though they were members of an insured's family residing with a family member who caused their bodily injuries. (A 6).

Under the Third District's decision, "the insured" means "the named insured" as used in the family/household exclusion excluding coverage for bodily injury to "any member of an *insured's* family residing in the *insured's* household." And, under the Third District's decision, "the insured" does *not* mean, generically (i.e., omnibus, named, or additional insured), the insured in whose household the family members are residing. (A 6).

Believing this reading of the family/household exclusion to be in conflict with a decision of this Court and a decision of the Fourth District on the same question of law, and the conflict being of considerable significance due to the substantial number of motor vehicles insured by Petitioner State Farm in this state, a notice to invoke this Court's discretionary jurisdiction was filed by Petitioner seeking resolution of the conflict.

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Third District's decision conflicts with this Court's decision in *Reid v*. *State Farm Fire & Cas. Co.*, 352 So. 2d 1172 (Fla. 1977) and the Fourth District's decision in *Linehan v. Alkhabbaz*, 398 So. 2d 989 (Fla. 4th DCA 1981). In both *Linehan* and *Reid*, the State Farm auto policy's family/household exclusion was applied to exclude coverage for the claims of family members living in the household of an omnibus insured who caused their bodily injuries. This is precisely the situation of the Respondent parents here who were living with their daughter, also a Respondent, an omnibus insured under the grandmother's policy. The point of the family/household exclusion was addressed by this Court in *Reid*: "The reason for the exclusion is obvious: to protect the insurer from over friendly or collusive lawsuits between family members." 352 So. 2d at 1173.

The Third District's decision interprets the family/household exclusion to defeat its very purpose, permitting claims for bodily injuries caused by a resident family member. The Third District reached its conclusion by holding that "the insured" means "the named insured", instead of meaning *whatever* (omnibus, named, or additional) insured has caused bodily injury to a family member who resides with him/her in the same household.

This case involves the same family/household exclusion language as that in *Linehan* and *Reid*, and yet the Third District's decision reaches exactly the opposite conclusion as to whether it excludes coverage for bodily injuries caused to family members by other family members with whom they are residing. The Third District's decision thus creates conflict. Resolution of the conflict is important because both Petitioner State Farm and courts throughout the state need a single interpretation by which to be guided in handling these not infrequent bodily injury claims that arise when families are in automobile accidents together.

#### **ARGUMENT**

In *Reid*, this Court was called upon to address the validity of family/household exclusions in automobile policies, which exclude family members bodily injury claims against each other excluding from coverage members of the insured's family or household. Adopting the decision of the Fourth District, the Court first set out the facts to determine whether the State Farm family/household exclusion applied at all, before reaching the public policy issue of whether such exclusions should be upheld:

Appellant's father obtained an automobile liability insurance policy on the family car. State Farm agreed to pay on behalf of its "insured" all sums which the insured should become legally obligated to pay as damages because of bodily injury sustained by other persons caused by accident arising out of the ownership, maintenance or use of this car. The unqualified word "insured" was defined to include any person while using the car, provided the operation and the actual use of the car were with the permission of the named insured. At the time of the accident, appellant's sister was driving their father's car with his permission. Her sister therefore qualified as an "insured" under the terms of the policy.

Appellant filed suit against her sister and State Farm alleging that she was injured as a proximate result of her sister's negligence. State Farm denied liability, relying upon a provision in the policy that the insurance does not apply to bodily injury to any insured or any member of the family of an insured residing in the same household as the insured. Appellant and her sister resided in the same household.

If the exclusion is valid, *it applies*.

352 So. 2d at 1172-1173.

The Third District asserted in a footnote that it was mindful of *Reid*, but incorrectly recited that "*Reid* did not involve the direct interpretation of the household exclusion, and the Court was not asked to interpret the application of the household exclusion contained in the policy." (A 6, n 1). On the contrary, the *Reid* opinion makes it clear that the first issue decided was whether the family/household exclusion applied, only *after* which determination was the validity issue reached. On the validity issue, the *Reid* opinion held that family/household exclusions are lawful and serve a valid purpose:

It is generally accepted, in the absence of a statutory prohibition, that provisions of automobile liability insurance policies excluding from coverage members of the insured's family or household are valid. [cite omitted]. This is also the rule in Florida. [cites omitted].

The reason for the exclusion is obvious: to protect the insurer from over friendly or collusive lawsuits between family members.

352 So. 2d at 1173.

In making the ruling pertinent here, however, i.e., that the State Farm family/household exclusion applied in the first instance, the fact that was of significance was that "Reid [the injured family member] and her sister [the omnibus insured/permissive driver who caused the accident] **resided in the same household.**" 352 So. 2d at 1173. That same fact exists as to the Respondent family members here: the parents [the injured family members] and their daughter [the omnibus insured/permissive driver who caused the accident] resided in the same household. What is *not* significant in *Reid* is the residence of the *named insured*, who in *Reid* was the father/owner of the car. Similarly, here, if the Third District had followed *Reid*, what was *not* significant was the residence of the *named insured*, the grandmother/owner of the car.

In *Linehan*, the Fourth District followed *Reid* as to the same State Farm family/household exclusion. In that case, the named insured (Alkhabbaz) owned a vehicle, which she loaned to her aunt, Linehan. Linehan's daughter was driving and Linehan was a passenger in the vehicle when they were involved in an accident. It was undisputed that Linehan's daughter was an omnibus insured/permissive driver. As here, State Farm pointed out that since Linehan and her daughter resided together in the same household, the State Farm policy's

family-household exclusion<sup>2</sup> applied to bar coverage for injuries to Linehan. The Fourth District court agreed and held that the exclusion applied, citing *Reid*. On identical facts, the Third District has held now that it is *not* the fact that the omnibus insured and her parents reside together in the same household that determines the applicability of the family/household exclusion.

Under *Reid* and *Linehan*, the significant point is that family members do not have coverage for bodily injuries caused by their own same-household family member/drivers, whether the drivers are insureds because they are named insureds or omnibus insureds or additional insureds. *Reid* and *Linehan* represent the only reasonable interpretation of the policy language and the only interpretation that comports with the purpose of the exclusion. The Third District's conflicting decision here - based on the holding that "the insured" means "the named insured" as used in the family household exclusion - does violence to the policy language and to the purpose of the exclusion. State Farm respectfully submits that there are enough State Farm automobile insurance policies and enough intra-family accidents in that this conflict should be resolved.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The *Linehan* Court referenced the family household exclusion in a footnote, saying: "Paraphrased, the exclusion provides that this insurance does not apply under coverage A *to bodily injury to any insured or any member of the family of any insured residing in the same household as the insured." 398 So. 2d at 989, n 1.* 

### **CONCLUSION**

Based on the foregoing facts and authorities, Petitioner State Farm Mutual Automobile Insurance Company respectfully submits that this Court has the basis for exercise of conflict jurisdiction, and that jurisdiction should be accepted to resolve the conflict now created by the Third District's decision as to the proper application of the family/household exclusion in the State Farm automobile insurance policies that abound in this state.