In the Supreme Court of Florida

CASE NO.: SC10-116

STATE FARM MUTUAL AUTOMOBILE INSURANCE COMPANY,

Petitioner,

v.

GILDA MENENDEZ, FABIOLA G. LLANES, FABIOLA P. LLANES and ROGER LLANES,

Respondents.

DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM A DECISION OF THE THIRD DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

JURISDICTIONAL ANSWER BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS FABIOLA G. LLANES, FABIOLA P. LLANES and ROGER LLANES

Lauri Waldman Ross, Esq. Theresa L. Girten, Esq. ROSS & GIRTEN Two Datran Center, Suite 1612 9130 South Dadeland Blvd. Miami, Florida 33156-7818 (305) 670-8010 Karel Remudo, Esq. Karel Remudo, P.A. 334 Minorca Avenue Coral Gables, FL 33134 (305) 441-2299

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

There is no basis for review of the Third District's decision, where it does not involve "the same issue of law" as the cases cited for conflict. See Fla. Const. art. v 3(b)(3).

In <u>Kyle v. Kyle</u>, 139 So.2d 885 (Fla. 1962), a district court ruled on the requisites to validity of a prenuptial agreement. The former husband sought further review, claiming the decision conflicted with language in one of this Court's prior decisions. This Court held that it had no jurisdiction, because the sole point raised in its prior decision "was whether the agreement was ambiguous." It did not address the validity of the agreement "because the question was neither raised...nor discussed in the decision." <u>Id</u>. at 887.

This case presents the converse situation. Reid and Linehan – the

ostensibly conflicting decisions – held that automobile household exclusions were valid, absent statutory abolition. <u>Reid</u> and <u>Linehan</u> did not address the ambiguity of the specific exclusion, because that issue was neither raised nor discussed in these decisions. Ambiguity was the sole basis for the Third District's decision.

As in <u>Kyle</u>, this Court has no conflict jurisdiction because the legal issues raised and resolved by these cases are different.

ARGUMENT

There is no "express direct conflict" between the Third District's decision (which finds a particular household exclusion ambiguous as applied to the facts) and the other cases cited (which addressed the validity of household exclusions); the cases raised and were decided on different legal issues.

This Court has discretionary jurisdiction to review decisions of district courts which expressly and directly conflict with a decision of another district court or this Court "on the same issue of law." Fla. Const. art. v, § 3(b)(3); Fla. R. App. Proc. 9.030(a)(2)(A)(iv).

The primary function of this provision is to stabilize the law by review of

decisions which are patently irreconcilable. <u>Florida Power & Light Co. v. Bell</u>, 113 So.2d 697, (Fla. 1959); <u>see also Ansin v. Thurston</u>, 101 So.2d 808, 811 (Fla. 1958) (limiting review to cases where there is a real and embarrassing conflict of opinion and authority between decisions).

"Decisional conflict" contemplates either the announcement of a rule of law which conflicts with a rule previously announced by this Court (or another district court) or the application of a rule of law to produce a different result in another decision of this Court (or another district court) involving substantially the same facts. <u>Nielsen v. City of Sarasota</u>, 117 So.2d 731 (Fla. 1960). When cases claimed to be in conflict are distinguishable in controlling factual elements, no express, direct conflict can arise. <u>See e.g. Wilson v. Southern Bell Tel. & Tel.</u> <u>Co.</u>, 327 So.2d 220, 221 (Fla. 1976); <u>Lynch v. Peoples Gas System, Inc.</u>, 267 So. 2d 81 (Fla. 1972) (no jurisdiction where the allegedly conflicting cases were based on different types of taxes). So too, there is no express direct conflict when the cases turn on different legal issues.

In <u>Kyle v. Kyle</u>, 139 So.2d 885 (Fla. 1962), a case on point, the Second District held that witnesses to the execution of an antenuptial agreement were necessary to establish its validity in a Florida court.

The husband sought further review, claiming that this decision conflicted

with language in a prior decision of this Court. This Court concluded that it had no jurisdiction because the cases were distinguishable. The "sole point raised" in this Court's first decision "was whether the agreement was ambiguous," and its construction, if so. It did <u>not</u>, in any respect involve the formal validity of the antenuptial agreement, and could not "because the question was neither raised...nor discussed in the decision." <u>Id</u>. at 887.²

State Farm's petition suffers from the same impediment. There is no express direct conflict between <u>Reid</u> and the Third District decision because the cases raised and were decided on different legal issues.

<u>Reid</u> upheld the validity of automobile insurance "household exclusions" against the claim that these were prohibited by a newly enacted Florida Statute, the Florida Automobile Reparations Act, § 627.733, Fla. Stat. (eff. January 1, 1972). <u>Id</u>. at 1173. This Court held that it was "certainly within the power of the legislature to prohibit all family household exclusions," but did not so by this statute. Reid at 1173.

The Third District decision addressed an entirely different issue not raised or considered in <u>Reid</u> – whether the household exclusion was ambiguous, based on

²The rationale behind this proscription is that "[N]o decision is authority on any question not raised and considered, although it may be involved in the facts of the case". <u>State ex rel. Helseth v. Du Bose</u>, 99 Fla. 812, 128 So. 4, 6 (Fla. 1930).

the facts. The Third District noted that it had "not overlooked <u>Reid</u>," but it "did not involve the direct interpretation of the household exclusion." Accordingly, in <u>Reid</u>, this Court "was not asked to interpret the application of the household exclusion." (App. 6, n.1). Thus, <u>Reid</u> and the Third District decision present disparate legal issues, which provide no basis for conflict jurisdiction.

The same analysis applies with respect to the ostensible conflict between the Third District decision and <u>Linehan</u>, 398 So.2d at 989. First, the policy exclusion in <u>Linehan</u> is paraphrased, not quoted, but appears to be materially different. <u>Id</u>. at 990, n.1. "Paraphrased, the exclusion provides that this insurance does not apply under coverage A bodily injury to any insured or <u>any member of the family</u> <u>of any insured</u> residing in the same household as the insured")³ Second, from the limited facts provided, there was no argument advanced that the exclusion was ambiguous. <u>Id</u>. at 990. The Fourth District simply cited <u>Reid</u>, holding that the exclusion was valid. <u>Id</u>.

The Third District's decision resolved an entirely different issue. The court found that a specific household exclusion was ambiguous as applied to the parents' claims.

³The underlined language is missing from the State Farm exclusion at issue. (App. 3).

Contrary to suggestion, <u>Reid</u> and <u>Linehan</u> do **not** "represent the only reasonable interpretation of the policy language...". (Pet. J. Br. p. 9). They could not "because the question was neither raised nor discussed in the[se] decisions"... <u>Kyle v. Kyle</u>, 139 So.2d at 887.

In sum, there is no express direct conflict between the Third District decision and the other cases cited.

CONCLUSION

For all of the foregoing reasons, State Farm's petition for review should be denied.